





Contents

1. Introduction	3
2. Child Development Theories	4
2.1 Resilience	5
2.2 Attachment Theory	6
2.3 Neurodevelopment theory	g
3. Offending Behaviour Theories	10
3.1 Risk Need Responsivity Model	10
3.2 Good Lives Model	13
3.3 Desistance Theory	14
4. Methods	16
4.1 Relationship between worker and client	17
4.2 Assessment	18
4.3 Formulation	19
4.4 Interventions	21
6. Conclusion	27
7. References	28
Appendix 1	36
Resilience Matrix	36





1. Introduction

Since the implementation of Getting It Right For Every Child (GIRFEC) in 2006, the youth justice landscape has changed significantly. The approach to working with children and young people in conflict with the law has moved away from a specialist assessment intervention model and has become increasingly multi-agency and holistic in nature. In 2015 the landscape in Scotland showed that approximately 30% of local authorities continued to be covered by dedicated youth justice teams, with other service models graduating towards integrated practice models such as: youth justice work being undertaken by children and families practitioners, broader young people's services and criminal justice services (Nolan, 2015). To this end, youth justice practitioners are now defined as all professionals who work with children and young people in conflict with the law. Whilst this may have benefits in terms of providing a consistent approach to meeting the needs of all children and young people, regardless of whether they are in conflict with the law, it has implications for the maintenance of specialist knowledge and skills, professional confidence and therefore wider workforce development. To assist with the maintenance of specialist knowledge, this section aims to provide information on the key theories and methods that are relevant to all practitioners working with children and young people in conflict with the law.

The theories and methods utilised in youth justice are not unanimously agreed upon and some theories and methods are more developed than others. This section will therefore briefly outline the most commonly utilised child development theories and offending behaviour theories, and will consider the main pros and cons of each of them. It will also consider what the research is currently telling us about the most effective methods for achieving positive outcomes for those children and young people in conflict with the law. However, it is important that these are considered within the Scottish context of the Whole System Approach, GIRFEC and Children's Rights.

The labelling of children's behaviour as criminal can be harmful as it has the potential to stigmatise and reinforce negative self-image and behaviour (Sapouna, 2015). This is supported by the findings of the Edinburgh Study of Youth Transitions and Crime (McAra & McVie, 2010), which has shown that children and young people involved in offending behaviour who are warned or charged but have no further contact with the youth justice system have better outcomes than those who become further involved in the system. In fact, the findings suggest that in some cases, doing nothing is better than doing something in terms of achieving reductions in serious offending (Goldson, Hughes, McAra, & McVie, 2010). This study was influential in the development of the Whole System Approach (WSA) in 2011. The WSA sets out that those working with children and young people who are in conflict with the law should focus on providing early and effective interventions and where possible, divert children and young people away from formal systems which may lead to compulsory measures, prosecution or custody. The Early and Effective Intervention (EEI) Core Elements Framework sets out the minimum expectations for the effective delivery of EEI in order to provide a shared language and, where possible, a commonality of processes (see Section 10).

The WSA also outlines that where children and young people continue to be in conflict with the law and cannot be diverted away from formal systems due to the frequency or severity of their behaviour, and with all other options having been exhausted, robust community alternatives to secure care or custody should be considered in accordance with the Havana Rules for the protection of juveniles deprived of their liberty (United Nations Committee on





the Rights of the Child, 1990). Where there are no alternatives to the removal of liberty, the approach highlights the need for clear pathway planning from the point at which children and young people have their liberty removed. Support and contact should be provided during this time, and support plans should be prepared ahead of their return to the community (see Section 16).

In relation to Children's Rights, the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC, 1989) sets out the civil, political, economic and social rights of every child under the age of 18. The WSA attempts to uphold all 54 articles in the UNCRC (1989), including those that are particularly pertinent to the justice system. Of particular relevance to this section on theory and methods are Article 18 (parental responsibilities and state assistance), Article 39 (recovery from trauma and reintegration) and Article 40 (juvenile justice) as these highlight the right of parents to receive support in raising their children, the right for children to have support to recover from trauma and the right to be reintegrated in society. These are summarised on the UNICEF website as:

Article 18 (parental responsibilities and state assistance): Both parents share responsibility for bringing up their child and should always consider what is best for the child. Governments must support parents by creating support services for children and giving parents the help they need to raise their children.

Article 39 (recovery from trauma and reintegration): Children who have experienced neglect, abuse, exploitation, torture or who are victims of war must receive special support to help them recover their health, dignity, self-respect and social life.

Article 40 (juvenile justice): A child accused or guilty of breaking the law must be treated with dignity and respect. They have the right to legal assistance and a fair trial that takes account of their age. Governments must set a minimum age for children to be tried in a criminal court and manage a justice system that enables children who have been in conflict with the law to reintegrate back into society.

In order to uphold these rights, practice should be directed by theoretical knowledge and evidence, and aimed at achieving meaningful outcomes for children, young people and their families. In order to carry out holistic, child-centred assessments, develop comprehensive formulations and deliver effective, outcomes-led interventions with children and young people who are in conflict with the law, practitioners must have a good understanding of the drivers behind offending behaviour, as well as what assists desistance and social integration. The age, stage and social context of the young person, along with their cognitive, social and emotional development, and 'hooks for change' (Giordano, Cernkovich, & Rudolph, 2002) should inform the intensity, duration and sequencing of the content and delivery of any targeted intervention.

Child development theories will be considered prior to examining offending behaviour theories, and then methods.

2. Child Development Theories

Children and young people involved in patterns of offending, or more serious offending, are often our most vulnerable, victimised and traumatised children (CYCJ, 2016). It is essential





that we ensure their wider needs are being met as these are often the drivers underlying their offending or harmful behaviours. Good practice with children and young people in conflict with the law (including preventative practice) is informed by child development theories, which collectively emphasise the need to promote positive social and emotional development to reduce vulnerability to future offending or harmful behaviours. Some examples of these theories are:

- Resilience, vulnerability and protective factors (Daniel & Wassell, 2002)
- Attachment Theory (Ainsworth, Blehar, Waters, & Wall, 1978; Bowlby, 1958)
- Neurodevelopmental Theory (Perry, Pollard, Blakley, Baker, & Vigilante, 1995)

2.1 Resilience

Resilience is generally defined as the ability to manage adversity and overcome adverse experiences. Building resilience should be a key theme of all work with children, young people and their families. Social work, education and health services all emphasise the importance of building on strengths and increasing the protective factors in children and young people whose situations indicate that they are at greater risk of developing social and psychological problems, including offending or harmful behaviours.

While some personal and social factors are strongly associated with offending or harmful behaviours, there are important aspects of life which can protect children and young people against this. Just as some risk factors increase the risk of offending or harmful behaviours, resilience factors can reduce the impact of adverse events and diminish these behaviours (Borum, Bartel, & Forth, 2006). The development of resilience is a result of interpersonal processes that reduce the impact of adverse biological, physical and social factors which threaten a child's health and well-being. Resilience has been described as "an interaction between risk and protective factors within a person's background, which can interrupt and reverse what might otherwise be a damaging process" and "normal development under difficult conditions" (Fraser & Galinsky, 1997).

Daniel and Wassell (2002) highlight that resilience factors can be located at three ecological levels: the child, their family relationships, and the wider community. The intrinsic qualities of an individual (individual resilience) fall on a dimension of resilience and vulnerability, whereas the external factors (family and community) fall on a dimension of protective and adverse environments. The GIRFEC framework recommends that practitioners consider these dimensions as set out in the resilience matrix (see Appendix 1).

These two dimensions, when considered together, provide a framework for considering resilience at all ecological levels of an individual's environment. Goldstein and Brooks (2005) call for an emphasis on the interaction between resilient parents, the child and the social environment the child is developing within. Systemic approaches to developing resilient children are now better understood.

Resilient children and young people are more likely to overcome difficulties presented to them by life circumstances, be able to make positive life choices, and have better long-term outcomes. Gilligan (1997) describes the three fundamental building blocks of resilience as:

- A secure base whereby the child feels a sense of belonging and security
- Good self-esteem, an internal sense of worth and competence; and





 A sense of self efficacy; a sense of mastery and control, along with an accurate understanding of personal strengths and limitations

Luthar, Cicchetti, and Becker (2000) explored dynamic resilience considering environmental and individual factors. They differentiated between the two areas to be able to define the child-centred internal workings of resilience and found that focussing on assessing personal attributes of the child was important to understanding resilience. The research into resilience has found that being able to overcome adversity is not extraordinary but that resilience can be understood as the characteristics of attuned, grounded and supported individuals.

The majority of children and young people develop resilience from the people who surround them: their parents or carers, families and significant others (Black & Lobo, 2008). However, due to the circumstances in which some children grow up, they do not have the opportunities to develop resilience from the people around them. Given the experiences and vulnerabilities of many children in conflict with the law, it is likely that a significant proportion of them will have low levels of resilience. The development of resilience in children in conflict with the law is likely to contribute to reductions in offending or harmful behaviours and is regarded as a protective factor. It is therefore essential that activities and services delivered by local communities and by practitioners should promote the development of:

- Emotional wellbeing
- Good social skills including empathy, communication, and pro-social behaviour
- Conflict resolution / problem solving skills
- Sense of self-esteem and self-control
- Sense of hope, motivation for personal achievement
- Positive peer group influence
- · Positive, supportive and caring adults in their life
- Opportunities for meaningful participation; and
- Access to wider support networks

2.2 Attachment Theory

Attachment theory was first developed by Bowlby (1958) and has since been expanded on. The central theme of attachment theory, according to Bowlby (1958), is that parents and carers who are available and responsive to an infant's needs establish a sense of security in the child. Bowlby (1958) also premised that over time, as the child becomes more independent, they rely on their internal working models of attachment to guide their future social interactions.

Parental inconsistency, abuse and neglect can have a direct impact on the development of a child's brain, on their attachment style and on their emotional regulation (Schore, 2001). Shaw, Owens, Vondra, Keenan, and Winslow (1996) describe that failure to form secure attachments early in life can have a negative impact on behaviour in later childhood and form a pathway into behavioural difficulties. Babies are born dysregulated and require attunement, co-regulation and interaction to be able to develop skills which will allow them to follow a natural process of moving from dysregulation through to self-regulation. When a child's fear and need for protection is not met reliably by caregivers, they develop attachment strategies that maximise their chances of receiving care. In extreme situations their focus becomes survival (Zeedyk, 2014) which impacts on brain development and





opportunities to develop self-regulation and a resilient emotional system. The resulting attachment pattern that develops reflects the strategy that a child has developed for coping with stress/survival.

There are four key factors to be cognisant of when observing attachment between a child and parent:

- **1. Safe Haven:** When the child feels threatened or afraid, he or she can return to the caregiver for comfort and soothing.
- **2. Secure Base:** The caregiver provides a secure and dependable base for the child to explore the world.
- **3. Proximity Maintenance:** The child strives to stay near the caregiver, thus keeping the child safe.
- **4. Separation Distress:** When separated from the caregiver, the child will become upset and distressed (Ainsworth et al., 1978; Main & Solomon, 1986).

Over the years research has focused on the quality and security of attachments. Three different attachment types were identified: secure, insecure-avoidant, and insecure-resistant (Ainsworth et al., 1978); and a further fourth attachment type was subsequently identified: insecure-disorganised (Main & Solomon, 1986; Main & Solomon, 1990). A secure attachment reflects experience of consistent and responsive care and tends to result in an internal working model in which they are loveable, others are caring, and they have the confidence to form healthy relationships. An insecure-avoidant attachment reflects experience of caregivers who were rejecting and unavailable and tends to result in an internal working model in which others are rejecting/unresponsive, and they tend to withdraw, become undemanding and self-sufficient. An insecure-resistant/ambivalent attachment reflects experience of inconsistent care and may result in an internal working model in which they are unworthy of others and have a tendency to seek attention and care from others, often through risky or coercive behaviours. Finally, an insecure-disorganised attachment reflects a care experience where the caregiver is frightening but, out of necessity, the frightened child seeks care and protection from the caregiver who is frightening. This confusing experience tends to result in an internal working model in which they are unlovable, others are frightening, and often leads to unpredictable and volatile presentations from children and young people.

The National Institute for Clinical Excellence produced <u>a guideline</u> in 2015: 'Children's attachment: attachment in children and young people who are adopted from care, in care or at high risk of going into care'. The guideline covers the identification, assessment, and treatment of attachment difficulties in children and young people up to the age of 18 and is helpful for practitioners in education, health and social care.

Research on attachment styles in children and young people who are in conflict with the law is limited; however, the research that is available indicates that insecure attachments are linked to higher levels of hostility and anger, compared to secure attachments (Muris, Meesters, Morren, & Moorman, 2004). In addition, children diagnosed with oppositional-defiant disorder (ODD), conduct disorder (CD), or post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) frequently display insecure attachment problems, possibly due to early abuse, neglect, or trauma.





Emerging therapeutic approaches view high-risk behaviours (for example self-harm, absconding, violence, harmful sexual behaviour, fire-setting) as being driven by adaptive attachment strategies which are aimed at survival either by eliciting care or by keeping people at a distance (Rogers & Budd, 2015). Within the current literature "external assets" such as support, empowerment, boundaries, expectations and constructive use of time, as well as "internal assets" such as commitment to learning, positive values, social competencies and positive identity, are recognised as being important constructs to develop for children engaging in high risk behaviours (Fulcher, McGladdery, & Vicary, 2011). As children and young people develop these skills, the risk of them displaying high-risk behaviours reduces.

However, the quality of the relationship between the carer/professional in developing these assets is key and for some children 'blocked trust' (when they block the pain of rejection by being consistently defensive and non-responsive to the carer's attempts to provide care) can lead to 'blocked care' (where carers feel continually rejected and have a lack of enjoyment from the relationship) (Hughes, 2017). Golding (2007) has indicated that understanding why children behave in the way they do (identifying the need behind the behaviour) can enhance carer/practitioner empathy, in turn making it more likely that the child will experience more positive relational experiences. Carer/practitioner empathy, acceptance and curiosity form the starting point for children to develop trust and learn new ways of relating to others. Hughes (2017) also promotes taking a compassionate, playful and creative approach to building relationships.

Golding (2015) has developed a <u>pyramid</u> documenting the priority therapeutic needs for children who have experienced trauma. The base level of the pyramid is about feeling safe, physically, and emotionally. For any interventions to be effective it is argued that the provision of a safe and secure base is an essential starting point. The second level is focused on developing a trusting relationship so that they are able to begin accepting nurture before moving towards the third level, which focuses on comfort, co-regulation of emotions, and eliciting care from relationships. The next level of the pyramid focuses on empathy and reflection, how to manage behaviour in relation to others and develop empathy for others. The focus then moves to developing resilience and resources with a focus on development of self-esteem and self-identity. The top level of the pyramid focuses on exploring trauma and mourning losses. It is suggested that only when the building blocks from the previous levels of the pyramid are in place will specialist and specific interventions to help cope with and process traumatic memories potentially be helpful for children and young people (Golding, 2020).

The National Institute for Clinical Excellence have produced clinical guidelines for the management of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) and complex needs for children, young people and adults. NHS Education for Scotland produced a guide to delivering evidence-based psychological therapies in Scotland which includes information on the prevalence of trauma and the effectiveness of interventions to address trauma. They have also produced a knowledge and skills framework, a training plan and learning resources as part of the national trauma training programme. In addition, the developmentally informed attachment risk and trauma (DART) approach is an emerging approach for working with children and young people in secure settings who are engaging in high-risk behaviours towards themselves and others (Rogers & Budd, 2015).





2.3 Neurodevelopment theory

"Polishing the Diamonds': Addressing adverse childhood experiences in Scotland" (Couper & Mackie, 2016) highlights the association between adverse childhood experiences and injury and death during childhood, premature mortality and suicide, disease and illness, and mental illness. Three mechanisms have been suggested for how exposure to adverse childhood experiences can cause such harm. The first mechanism is through engaging in health-harming behaviours; the second is through the impact on social determinants of health such as education, employment, and income; and the third is through neurobiological and genetic pathways as responses to stress can lead to physical changes in the way the brain develops.

The first growth period for a child's brain is in utero up to the first three years of life. This period is therefore particularly significant in terms of prevention and early intervention.

Early years: Research into brain development offers a neurological perspective on the damaging effects of pre-birth and early childhood abuse, neglect, and exposure to violence, including domestic abuse, on infant brain development. It is argued that poor parental attachment relationships and direct and indirect exposure to abuse and trauma impact negatively on brain development, and can engender emotional and behavioural problems that continue into adulthood. Perry et al. (1995) outline the potential impact of neglect and trauma on infant development which can include the functional capacity of the neural systems that mediate our cognitive, emotional, social, and physiological functioning and can result in a variety of difficulties; for example, delayed language skills, delayed fine and large motor skills, impulsivity, dysphoria, and hyperactivity. It appears that the longer the child is in an adverse environment, and the earlier and more pervasive their experience, the more pervasive and enduring the impact is. Findings have indicated that there can be some recovery of functional capacity when children are removed from adverse environments, with the less time spent in an adverse environment seeming to lead to more robust recovery (Perry, 2002; Perry et al., 1995).

Adolescence: A child's pathway to physiological, emotional and psychosocial maturity depends on their individual rate of maturation (Prior et al., 2011; Singh, 2009). During adolescence the brain undergoes rapid neurological development to transform into an adult brain. During this period social and cognitive functioning is affected, increasing children and young people's propensity to take risks, behave impulsively and sensation seek, thus impairing their judgment and ability to interpret social cues (Chater, 2009; Johnson, Blum, & Giedd, 2009). In turn this can lead to poor decision making and can increase the chance of contact with the police. Emerging neuro-scientific research has begun to demonstrate that cognitive development and emotional regulation, akin to full adult maturity and functioning, is not fully developed until at least the mid-20s. For adolescents who have experienced trauma, the impact of their adverse childhood experiences on brain development can make these typical impulsive/risk-taking behaviours even more profound (Perry, Griffin, Davis, Perry, & Perry, 2018).

Creeden (2013:13) suggests that "viewing the youth within the context of his or her developmental history and optimal developmental trajectory is an essential underpinning for the entire assessment and treatment process". In addition to the typical areas considered within a holistic developmental assessment he argues that instruments aimed at assessing a wide range of trauma and neurological conditions be undertaken as well. This enables an





understanding of each child's capacity to function at a developmentally expected level. In relation to intervention, he recommends that the focus is on providing them with 'the supports, skills and resources necessary to foster learning, growth and resilience' (Creeden, 2018). The approach taken is to attend to the earliest developmental tasks first (for example, attunement, attachment, body awareness, physiological regulation, accurate attending to social cues) and then move to higher level developmental tasks (for example, social rules and skills, personal responsibility, understanding impact of behaviour on others) as appropriate for the individual child. It is therefore important that the team around the child considers which developmental milestones the child has reached, and which ones have not been reached, then ensures that interventions are focused on helping the child reach the developmental milestones appropriate for their age. Once the 'foundation' skills are acquired then the more complex issues associated with offending or harmful behaviours can be addressed, and are more likely to be successful.

In relation to children who have engaged in harmful sexual behaviour, Creeden (2018) notes that utilising a developmental model ensures a holistic approach where intervention goals include: facilitating stable family relationships; providing a safe living environment, increasing the child's capacity for self-regulation; actively teaching adaptive problem solving and coping skills; increasing social skills and providing opportunities for pro-social peer interaction; improving school performance and vocational competency; enhancing their capacity for personal intimacy; and providing clear and accurate sex education that promotes healthy sexuality.

Given what is known about the impact of trauma and attachment on neurodevelopment, it is also important to ensure that interventions are delivered in a variety of modes rather than focusing solely on 'talk therapies' as this can limit progress for the child or young person (Creeden, 2018). Interventions should be applicable to the developmental stage of the child and may involve developmentally appropriate play to assist with this.

3. Offending Behaviour Theories

As with child development theories, there are a number of offending behaviour theories. The theories utilised in youth justice are not unanimously agreed upon but there are three key theories which receive the most attention. This section will briefly outline these three theories and will consider the benefits and limitations of each; however, it should be borne in mind that these theories do not necessarily need to be mutually exclusive.

3.1 Risk Need Responsivity Model

The Risk, Need, Responsivity (RNR) model (Andrews & Bonta, 2010) has been the dominant model in justice. It is based on the theory known as the Psychology of Criminal Conduct - a general personality and cognitive social psychological perspective on criminal behaviour. The RNR model is a psychological approach proposing that intervention undertaken with people who offend is most effective when it follows these three core principles:

- Risk the level of assessment or intervention should match the level of risk
- Need treatment or intervention should focus on those factors which are most clearly linked to offending (criminogenic needs)





• Responsivity - the intervention should be tailored to the needs of the individual to enhance their ability to engage.

Since its inception the RNR model has been expanded and now refers to 18 principles which are categorised under: overarching principles, structured assessment, programme delivery, staff practices, and organisational, as well as risk, need and responsivity (Andrews, Bonta, & Wormith, 2011). The RNR model is not an intervention approach but a framework through which intervention should be delivered to enhance effectiveness. A number of meta-analysis studies have shown that there is strong empirical support for better outcomes from those interventions that adhere to the RNR principles (Andrews & Bonta, 2010; Andrews & Dowden, 2005; Dowden & Andrews, 2004; Hanson, Bourgon, Helmus, & Hodgson, 2009; Koehler, Lösel, Akoensi, & Humphreys, 2013).

Based on the strong research support for the risk principle there was a move to use risk assessment tools to identify 'criminogenic' needs and the level of risk presented by individuals. These tools have been based on the research evidence that has been gathered over the years about the risk and protective factors that correlate with offending behaviour. There are a number of risk factors that have been consistently identified, which tend to fall into the following categories: individual, family, social, school, and community (Farrington, 2015). Taking a more positive, strengths-based approach, research has recently started to focus on protective factors: those factors that nullify the effects of risk factors or predict a low probability of offending among a group at risk (Ttofi, Farrington, Piquero, & DeLisi, 2016). The well-evidenced protective factors tend to fall into similar categories to the risk factors (see table overleaf).

	Risk factors	Protective factors
Individual	Impulsiveness; attention problems; low intelligence; low empathy (Farrington, 2015; Jolliffe & Farrington, 2009).	High academic achievement & intelligence; high self-control; low hyperactivity (Farrington, Ttofi, & Piquero, 2016; Jolliffe, Farrington, Loeber, & Pardini, 2016; Ttofi, Farrington, Piquero, Lösel, et al., 2016; Vassallo, Edwards, & Forrest, 2016).
Family	Poor parental supervision; parental substance abuse and mental health problems; parental attitudes that condone offending behaviour; inconsistent, punitive or lax discipline; poor affective relations between youth, caregivers and siblings (Farrington, 1996; Farrington, 2015; Henggeler, Schoenwald, Borduin, Rowland, & Cunningham, 2009).	High parental interest in education; good parental supervision; high family income; good quality caregiver relationships; strong bonds with family (Farrington, 2015; Farrington, Loeber, & Ttofi, 2012; Farrington et al., 2016; McAra & McVie, 2016).
Social	Peer delinquency; socio-economic deprivation; early victimisation (Farrington, 2015; Farrington et al., 2012; Hawkins et al., 2000; McAra & McVie, 2016).	Low peer delinquency; having a good relationship with peers; high likelihood of getting caught (Jolliffe et al., 2016; Vassallo et al., 2016).
School	Low school achievement; educational problems; poor attendance; school exclusions (Farrington, 1989; Farrington, 2015;	Academic achievement; positive education experiences; retained in education; positive relationship with teachers (Farrington et al., 2012; Farrington et al., 2016; Jolliffe et al.,





	McAra & McVie, 2016; McAra, McVie, Croall, Mooney, & Munro, 2010).	2016; McAra & McVie, 2016; Vassallo et al., 2016).
Community	High crime levels in community; neighbourhood issues (Farrington, 2015; Farrington et al., 2012; Hawkins et al., 2000).	Community involvement and engagement (Farrington et al., 2016; Jolliffe et al., 2016).

The protective factors identified through research so far are in line with resilience based approaches (Ttofi, Farrington, Piquero, & DeLisi, 2016). Although further research is required to examine the interactions between risk and protective factors, research is clearly indicating that not only does offending and violent behaviour increase as a function of cumulative risk factors, but that it also decreases as a function of cumulative protective factors (Andershed, Gibson, & Andershed, 2016; Dubow, Huesmann, Boxer, & Smith, 2016). A more complete understanding of protective factors for offending behaviour would assist with a more strengths-based, focused approach to intervention.

Due to a lack of consistency in the use of validated risk assessment tools for children and young people in Scotland, there was a move to use the Asset assessment or the Youth Level of Service/Case Management Inventory (YLS-CMI) as the risk assessment tools of choice for general offending. The National Standards for Scotland's Youth Justice Service, which were initially published in 2002, indicated that "every comprehensive assessment must be completed using Asset/YLS-CMI assessment and other specialist structured risk assessment tools where appropriate" (Scottish Government, 2013, p. 355). In 2008 England and Wales moved to the 'Scaled Approach' framework for assessment and intervention, using Asset as the core risk assessment tool. The Scaled Approach was designed to tailor the intensity of the intervention to the assessed likelihood of reoffending and risk of serious harm to others. The Scaled Approach and the 'risk factor prevention paradigm' have been criticised by Case and Haines (2009). Their criticisms in terms of the Scaled Approach focus on the use of a risk category, based on an Asset assessment, to determine which level of supervision or intervention a person receives without taking into account the wider individual and systemic needs of that person. In particular they criticise the methodology used as being undermined by oversimplification, partiality, indefinity and invalidity and argue that it is 'negative' and 'value laden' (Case & Haines, 2016). Rather than conducting risk assessments that categorise individuals into levels of risk, they argue that youth justice should be underpinned by the Children First model (Case, 2021). This model: focuses on assessing children in holistic terms including their individual needs and contexts; views children as part of the solution, not part of the problem; and should involve working in partnership with other professionals, children, and their families.

Others have also criticised the RNR model for its focus on criminogenic needs and lack of focus on basic human needs, as this has led to a deficit-based approach (Ward & Stewart, 2003). A further criticism of the RNR approach has been that the risk factors are presented in a way which makes them appear as individual characteristics, and there is a lack of distinction between those factors that can be changed through the efforts of the individual themselves and those which are socially imposed deprivations that can only be changed by broader social or economic measures (Raynor & Vanstone, 2016). It is claimed that this has led to the social and structural context of offending being ignored and risk reduction efforts being overly focused on deficits and the individual themselves (Hannah-Moffat, 2009).





McAra et al. (2010) highlight that attention to risk has led to mechanistic practice and more punitive policy, such as the management of serious violent and sexual offenders in Scotland. When this involves children and young people, it is in contravention of the Kilbrandon principles.

In Scotland, the use of actuarial tools, or certainly the emphasis that has been placed on the score in England and Wales when using such tools, does not appear to fit well with the FRAME) practice standards. The first practice standard focuses on risk assessment and states that:

"Risk assessment will involve identification of key pieces of information, analysis of their meaning in the time and context of the assessment, and evaluation against the appropriate criteria. Risk assessment will be based on a wide range of available information, gathered from a variety of sources. Risk assessment will be conducted in an evidence-based, structured manner, incorporating appropriate tools and professional decision-making, acknowledging any limitations of the assessment. Risk assessment will be communicated responsibly to ensure that the findings of the assessment can be meaningfully understood and inform decision-making. Risk will be communicated in terms of the pattern, nature, seriousness and likelihood of offending" (Scottish Government, 2021:7).

In addition, the FRAME guidance goes on to state that "Risk assessment is best undertaken within the context of structured professional judgement (SPJ), underpinned by holistic formulation of the relevant developmental, dispositional and environmental factors" (Scottish Government, 2021, p. 8). The use of scores and converting these to risk bands in the Asset assessment, and perhaps to a lesser extent YLS-CMI, does not encourage the practice of developing a comprehensive formulation so that the relevant underlying drivers to the behaviour of concern can be understood and linked directly to risk reduction measures.

As a result, the Scottish Government, Risk Management Authority and CYCJ have worked in collaboration to roll out a more holistic structured professional judgment approach to the assessment of harmful behaviours. This approach incorporates the Short Term Assessment of Risk and Treatability: Adolescent Version (START:AV) assessment tool which has scope to consider a wide range of vulnerabilities and strengths and the implication of these for provision of responsive interventions. An <u>evaluation</u> of the START:AV training indicated that trainees reported increased knowledge and understanding of the START:AV tool and the SPJ approach as well as increased confidence and skills in using them (Murphy, 2020). In addition, there are new Scottish Government standards published, <u>Working with children in conflict with the law 2021: standards</u>, which reflect the need for a move to an SPJ approach to assessing risk of harm.

3.2 Good Lives Model

The Good Lives Model (GLM) (Ward, 2002) is a strengths-based and holistic approach to working with adults and young people who have been involved with offending behaviour and aims to promote individuals' aspirations and plans for more meaningful and personally fulfilling lives (Ward, 2010). However, the GLM and the traditional RNR approach to rehabilitation are not mutually exclusive. Risks and needs can be reduced or managed within





the GLM framework, which delivers a more holistic, client-centred, and engaging framework within which to do this (Ward & Fortune, 2013).

According to the GLM, all individuals have needs and aspirations and seek 'primary human goods' which are likely to lead to psychological wellbeing if achieved. Eleven primary goods have been defined: life; knowledge; excellence in play; excellence in work; excellence in agency; inner peace; friendship/relatedness; community; spirituality; pleasure; and creativity. Secondary goods are activities that individuals engage in, in order to achieve primary goods e.g. football may serve as the secondary means by which to meet the need for excellence in play. The desire to achieve primary goods is normal; however, some individuals fail to achieve these in pro-social ways, and they harm others in the process. This is often due to a lack of internal or external resources to meet their needs in a more pro-social manner (Willis, Yates, Gannon, & Ward, 2013). For example, harmful sexual behaviour can sometimes be the secondary means by which to meet the need for inner peace or friendship/relatedness. To reduce reoffending and help individuals achieve a satisfying life without harming others, the GLM views intervention as an activity that should build capabilities, strengths, opportunities and resources in individuals.

For adolescents, the 11 'primary goods' in the original GLM have been condensed to eight 'needs': having fun; achieving; being my own person; having people in my life; having purpose and making a difference; emotional health; sexual health; and physical health. The GLM-A (adolescent version) is a framework to help understand the needs that drive an adolescent's behaviour and inform the interventions that should be implemented and prioritised to help them meet those needs more appropriately (Print, 2013). The primary needs of the GLM-A are largely consistent with the wellbeing indicators incorporated in GIRFEC.

There has been limited research on the Good Lives Model with children and young people. However, there are initial indications that, with some adaptations, the GLM assumptions fit with children and young people in conflict with the law, even when gender is taken into account (Barendregt, van der Laan, Bongers, & van Nieuwenhuizen, 2018; van Damme, Fortune, Vandevelde, & Vanderplasschen, 2017). In addition, initial evaluation findings on the value of the GLM-A have indicated that practitioners and children found it to be a positive and motivational approach (Leeson & Adshead, 2013; Simpson & Vaswani, 2015).

Despite the positive findings, one of the criticisms of the GLM is that it is too focused on the individual level of analysis. Given the evidence about the significance of social capital in desistance, it has been argued that there is also a need for more focus on interventions around the familial and social contexts of offending and that legitimate opportunities to develop social capital be improved (McNeill & Weaver, 2010).

3.3 Desistance Theory

Trotter (2016), amongst others, has argued that the central focus that has been placed on risk assessment and management can undermine attempts to promote positive changes in the lives of individuals who have engaged in offending behaviour, consequently undermining the various social goods that may result from such changes. Also, it has largely been assumed that the factors that lead an individual into offending are the factors which will lead them out of offending (Trotter, 2016). For practitioners interested in reducing reoffending, it is essential to understand the change agents (McCulloch, McNeill, Green, & Lancaster, 2008)





involved in ending offending - the process of 'desistance'. Desistance is often regarded as a process because it is not possible to know the exact moment when offending behaviour ceases permanently. As Maruna (2001) highlights - how can we measure desistance other than posthumously? In order to reduce reoffending, it is important to understand when, why and how change occurs. Although the literature in relation to desistance has grown over the past few years, our understanding of the processes underlying desistance in children and young people is still limited.

Maruna (2001) identified three broad theoretical perspectives important to understanding desistance:

Ontogenic theories which stress the importance of age and maturation and suggest that children and young people can outgrow certain behaviours as they mature.

Sociogenic theories which stress the importance of social bonds and ties and suggest that if the individual has family ties, positive social relationships and is in education or employment, they are less likely to offend as they have more to lose than those who have no social bonds.

Narrative Theories which stress the importance of subjective changes in the person's sense of self-identity, personal and social 'connectedness' or integration, which in turn are reflected in changing motivations, greater concern for others and consideration of the future. The way the young person makes sense of their situation, the changes they make and the way they view and value themselves can have an impact on their own behaviour, concern for others and more consideration as to their own future.

These three theoretical perspectives are interconnected and stress the importance of the relationships between 'objective' changes in a person's life and 'subjective' assessment of the value or significance of these changes. They support the case for more holistic responses and suggest that the 'key' to stopping offending is likely to reside somewhere in the interface between developing personal maturity, changing social bonds associated with life transitions, and individual subjective narrative constructions built around key events, transitions and changes. Indeed, Maruna and Farrall (2004) have distinguished between primary and secondary desistance where primary desistance is the change in behaviour and secondary desistance is a related change in self-identity as a non-offender. More recently researchers have also referred to tertiary desistance which refers to a shift in an individual's belonging to and acceptance by a moral community (McNeill, 2016). Long-term change therefore also depends on how the individual is seen by others and the actions others take, and there is recognition that desistance is not just a personal process but a social and political process (McNeill, 2016; Nugent & Schinkel, 2016). We therefore need to engage with situations and contexts, as well as individuals, to support change and manage risks (Bottoms, 2014). Nugent and Schinkel (2016) have recently proposed replacing primary, secondary and tertiary desistance with the following terms: act desistance - for non-offending; identity desistance - for the internalisation of a non-offending identity; and relational desistance - for recognition of change by others. The changes are proposed to move to a terminology that describes the different aspects of desistance better and does not suggest sequencing in time or importance.





Following a review of the research evidence on desistance, McNeill, Farrall, Lightowler, and Maruna (2012:2) state "desistance requires engagement with families, communities, civil society and the state itself". They identified eight central principles for practice:

- Being realistic about the complexity and difficulty of the process
- Individualising support for change
- Building and sustaining hope
- Recognising and developing people's strengths
- Respecting and fostering agency (or self-determination)
- Working with and through relationships (both personal and professional)
- Developing social as well as human capital
- Recognising and celebrating progress

Through a desistance lens a number of domains have been highlighted as being significant in supporting children and young people's journeys away from offending (HMI Probation, 2016):

- Building relationships and engagement
- Engagement with wider social contexts/networks
- Effectiveness in addressing key structural barriers
- Creating opportunities for change and community integration
- Promoting positive identity and self-worth
- Motivating children and young people
- Active management of diversity needs
- Constructive use of restorative approaches

McNeill (2016) argues that desistance from offending behaviour involves supporting relationships and building strengths and hope, rather than focusing on risks and deficits. A recent thematic analysis examining children's narratives of their journey towards a good life following a stay in a closed institution found that the following key themes were important: strengths and resilience; re-building personally valued lives; making sense of past experiences; moving away from a harmful lifestyle; and (in-)formal social supports (Van Hecke, Vanderplasschen, Van Damme, & Vandevelde, 2019). Again, these findings indicate that while individual offence focused work might be appropriate for some individuals, the social needs of the child or young person must also be addressed.

4. Methods

To achieve good outcomes for children and young people in conflict with the law we need to use our theoretical knowledge to aid our understanding of the vulnerabilities, needs and risk factors that produce offending or harmful behaviours for specific individuals, as well as their strengths and protective factors. In other words, moving from a generic understanding of what causes offending or harmful behaviours, to what the relevant drivers to these are for specific individuals and what protects that individual from these. We also need to draw on theory and research to inform our knowledge about what interventions are likely to be effective and how to deliver these to achieve the best outcomes. This section will look at the evidence base for effective methods of intervention.

www.cycj.org.uk



4.1 Relationship between worker and client

Building relationships is crucial to ensuring that comprehensive, collaborative assessments and formulations can be undertaken and that interventions are effective. The relationship between client and worker is also seen as pivotal in promoting or hindering desistance. However, when working to effect change in the behaviour of children and young people it is essential that high quality working relationships are also formed with the child or young person's parent(s)/carer(s). Recognising the importance of relationships, the <u>Common Core of Skills, Knowledge & Understanding and Values for the "Children's Workforce" in Scotland resource was published in 2012. This describes the skills, knowledge & understanding, and values that everyone should have if they work with children and young people and their families and sets them out within two contexts: relationships with children, young people and families; and relationships between workers.</u>

Trotter (2015) suggests that successful outcomes are strongly related to the quality of the interaction between worker and client. Workers who can positively influence their clients are more likely to be enthusiastic, warm, and optimistic, using creativity and imagination. Additionally, McNeill (2002) describes optimism, trust and loyalty as being essential to effective working relationships with clear roles, boundaries and mutual expectations, Green. Mitchell, and Bruun (2013) suggest genuineness and advocacy as important elements of the working relationship for children and young people. Trust is a significant factor in motivating children and young people to engage with adults, and Milbourne (2009) has pointed to previous negative experiences within the context of statutory services and residential care as impacting on a child or young person's ability to trust others. Hughes (2017) has developed a therapeutic model based on the principles of PACE: taking a Playful approach, and displaying Acceptance, Curiosity and Empathy, which forms the starting point for children to develop trust and learn new ways of relating to others. Dvadic Developmental Practice (DDP) is an intervention for families with adopted or fostered children, or for children in residential care, who have suffered from significant developmental trauma. It brings together knowledge about attachment, developmental trauma, neurodevelopment, and child development and has the PACE principles at its core in order to engage and build trusting relationships.

Research on intervention effectiveness has shown that the way professionals approach work with their clients can impact on the whole package of care. Trotter (2013) reviewed the research into effective supervision and found that it is characterised by prosocial modelling and reinforcement, problem-solving, relationship and cognitive behavioural skills. In an Australian juvenile justice setting, Trotter (2012) examined direct observation and taped interviews of supervision practice. Practice was coded for skills such as relationship, role clarification, prosocial modelling, problem-solving, and use of CBT techniques. Findings indicated that when supervised by officers who demonstrated these skills, those deemed low to medium risk of offending had a further offending rate of 52% in comparison to 74% when supervised by less skilled officers. The difference was less and not statistically significant for those deemed high risk of offending, 83% compared to 93%.

Research has also indicated that the more workers discussed problems from the young person's perspective, the more engaged the young people were. This was in contrast to young people being found to be less engaged the more that problems were identified by the worker without the young person's input (Trotter, 2012). These findings highlight the need to work collaboratively with the child or young person to set the goals for intervention.





Recognising the strengths and potential of children and young people from the first contact, rather than focusing solely on problems to be fixed, is crucial to engagement and developing motivation. Even in short meetings, how workers interact with clients can have a major impact.

Children and young people who have lived experience of the youth justice system (Cook, 2015) have identified that their positive experiences involved having one consistent worker, and a worker who:

- Had a belief in them
- Had a vision or belief in their future
- Were there during their worst spells as well as better ones
- Helped them to understand their choices
- Went 'above and beyond'

The voices of those children participating in Scotland's <u>Independent Care Review</u> clearly told us about the importance of developing and maintaining relationships (Independent Care Review, 2020).

All of the above indicates that promoting positive behaviours, nurturing, listening, challenging, showing respect and understanding and including children and young people in decision-making is essential in relationship building and achieving positive outcomes.

4.2 Assessment

Bronfenbrenner (1979) theory of social ecology highlights that individuals are embedded within systems that play an integral part in their life and in shaping their behaviour. The individual is at the innermost level of the concentric circles with each concentric layer representing a system such as family, peers, school, and community. Children and young people often have limited control over the systems within which they are embedded, making it necessary for a systemic approach to be taken to reduce offending or harmful behaviours. A comprehensive, holistic, and systemic assessment and formulation should therefore be the starting point for any intervention plans to reduce the offending or harmful behaviours that children and young people are engaging in. This should ensure that the interventions provided are individualised and proportionate, and therefore most likely to be effective.

In adhering to good practice and holistic working when focusing specifically on risk associated with the child's offending or harmful behaviours, it is necessary to be mindful that children may experience other forms of vulnerability and victimisation as well, and that the National Guidance for Child Protection in Scotland may need to be followed. The National Risk Framework aids the assessment and intervention planning process, broadly speaking, for children and young people where welfare and/or child protection concerns exist. The purpose of the tool is to support practitioners from a wide range of backgrounds in the process of identifying, analysing, and managing risk. This guidance was developed in collaboration with the Scottish Government to assist with the conceptualisation of risk across various domains of practice. Whilst this framework is not specific to youth justice practice, it is beneficial to consider applying this framework to ensure that risk, in its broadest sense, is addressed in a holistic way. For example, a child or young person who may be displaying offending or harmful behaviours may also be a victim of violence at home by parents, constituting a child protection concern. The risk to the child or young person may therefore





need to be assessed alongside the risk posed by the child or young person's offending or harmful behaviours.

The wellbeing of children and young people is at the core of the GIRFEC approach and is broader than child protection and welfare. Wellbeing has been described in terms of eight indicators to assist a common understanding of what wellbeing means: Safe, Healthy, Achieving, Nurtured, Active, Respected, Responsible, and Included (SHANARRI). As highlighted earlier there is considerable similarity between wellbeing indicators and the primary needs of the GLM-A. The National Risk Framework is helpful in considering the quality of life for the child or young person at that point in time and identifies the individualised support that child needs to help them reach their full potential and flourish.

However, there are specific circumstances where children and young people may present a risk of serious harm to others because of their own behaviours, and in such cases, additional quidance is needed. As stated above, the Framework for Risk Assessment Management and Evaluation (FRAME) with children aged 12-17 is a framework for child-centred practice in risk assessment and management. FRAME provides details of a best practice formal risk management process - the Care and Risk Management (CARM) process (see Section 15). In terms of assessing the risk of future harmful behaviour with a view to reducing this, it is useful to identify the key risk factors and protective factors linked to the harmful behaviour. The use of appropriate and validated risk assessment tools can be a helpful aid to ground the assessment in the knowledge base of the factors we know are linked to harmful behaviours, and further makes for an evidence-based assessment. The Risk Assessment Tools Evaluation Directory (RATED) is an online document produced by the Risk Management Authority (RMA) which highlights various different risk assessment tools available for assessing children and young people along with the evidence that supports the tools' validity. The updated directory contains later developments such as the Short-Term Assessment of Risk and Treatability: Adolescent Version (START:AV). Although risk assessment tools are crucial for structuring our assessments, we need to ensure the assessment is individualised, and the RMA indicates that risk assessment is best undertaken within the context of a structured professional judgment approach.

4.3 Formulation

Most children and young people who are, or have been, in conflict with the law will for the most part experience considerable periods of time when they are not engaging in offending or harmful behaviours and will have occasions when they do not engage in such behaviour, despite having the opportunity to do so. We therefore need to gather information about the strategies and skills they use at these times, and their strengths and interests, to inform our holistic understanding of their behaviour. In addition to the research on risk and protective factors described above, there is also an emerging body of evidence that children involved in more serious offending are almost always the most vulnerable, victimised and traumatised children (CYCJ, 2016; Leishman, Lightowler, & Robinson, 2017; Murphy, 2018). Given what we know about children who engage in violent behaviour and the clear links between vulnerability (often as a result of adverse childhood experiences (see Section 8) and violence, we need to conceptualise them as children in need, rather than as offenders. This is in line with the UNCRC and the National Strategy for Community Justice, which encourages partners to use the terms 'person with convictions' or 'person with an offending history', rather than 'offender'.





It is essential that risk assessments be undertaken within the context of a structured professional judgment approach and that they are underpinned by a holistic formulation. In fact, Johnstone and Gregory (2015:106) have stated that 'risk assessment should be viewed as incomplete in the absence of a risk formulation'. Without formulation, a risk assessment will amount to a mechanistic rating or scoring of risk factors with no comprehension of the meaning or function of the offending or harmful behaviour for the individual. As a result, the ability to develop individualised, proportionate, and effective risk management/intervention plans will be limited. There is also a need to ensure that our assessments and formulations take into account gender differences in the pathways to offending or harmful behaviours (see Section 7). As the research literature demonstrates, many of the risk factors linked to offending or harmful behaviours by children are outwith the control of the child. Assessments and formulations therefore need to be systemic and consider family, peers, school, and community.

To develop a comprehensive formulation it is important to first of all consider the individual manifestation and relevance of risk factors. Douglas, Blanchard, and Hendry (2013) highlight that to understand the individual manifestation of risk factors (i.e., what they look like for individuals), consideration should be given to the onset, course, severity, nature of change, acuteness of change, periodicity, recent change, current status, and future concerns. In terms of relevance, simply because a risk/protective factor has been identified at the general level as an important risk factor, and is *present* for an individual, it is not necessarily *relevant* or causal to the individual's behaviour of concern. There is therefore a need to understand and examine the relevance of the risk/protective factor to that individual's behaviour. Douglas (2011) has indicated that a risk factor is relevant to an individual's risk for violent behaviour if it:

- 1) was a material contribution to past violence
- 2) is likely to influence the individual's decision to act in a violent manner in the future
- 3) is likely to impair the individual's capacity to employ non-violent problem-solving techniques or to engage in non-violent or non-confrontational interpersonal relations, or;
- 4) it is necessary to manage this factor in order to mitigate risk.

Additionally, a comprehensive formulation should offer an understanding of the interaction and role of risk and protective factors for the individual. Lewis and Doyle (2009:290) state that 'risk formulation may be regarded as a form of analysis that can assist practitioners to explain the origins, development, and maintenance of risk behaviour, while providing a crucial link between assessment and management…'. One helpful model for organising information and developing a formulation is Weerasekera (1996) 4Ps model. This model considers predisposing factors (pre-existing vulnerabilities that predispose a child or young person to developing problem behaviour); precipitating factors (more recent events that trigger the onset, or exacerbation of the problem behaviour); perpetuating factors (those maintaining the problem behaviour); and protective factors (those that ameliorate or reduce the problem behaviour).

Areas to consider when completing assessment and formulation are:

- strengths, protective factors and resilience factors
- developmental history including any attachment issues





- current level of functioning (cognitive, social, behavioural) to inform engagement and intervention strategies
- whether there are any potential biological or neurodevelopmental difficulties
- the extent of any exposure to adverse childhood experiences
- the nature, frequency, duration, and intensity of the behaviours
- functional analysis of the behaviours
- the outcome of any previous attempts to modify the behaviours
- parental or carer's level of concern about the behaviours and their capacity to support behaviour change

Common features of formulations conducted in the mental health field have been identified and are helpful for us to consider when developing a risk-based formulation. They are: inferential (speculate about possible futures and provides an explanation for the speculations); action-oriented (assist with development of intervention plans); theory-driven (guided by a theory of problem cause or solution); individualised (driven by details of the individual's history); narrative (encoded in natural language not formulas, calculations or numbers); diachronic (anchored in information about the past, the present, and possible futures); testable (intended to be tested); and ampliative (produces new knowledge) (Hart, Sturmey, Logan, & McMurran, 2011).

One issue arising from these common features of formulation is the theory which should be used to underpin the formulation. As there is no single theory of offending or harmful behaviours in children and young people, various theories need to be drawn on such as Risk Need Responsivity, Desistance and the Good Lives Model. However, these have all originated from work with adults who have engaged in offending behaviour and have then been applied to children and young people. Formulations involving children and young people should be developmentally informed, systems informed, trauma informed, and vulnerability informed (Johnstone & Gregory, 2015). The neurodevelopmental perspective of Perry et al. (2018) is therefore helpful in this regard as it details the pathways through which early experiences and adversity, as well as neurodevelopmental issues, can lead to children and young people coming into conflict with the law. Drawing the 4Ps information together with theoretical knowledge enables the development of a narrative risk formulation which should provide the basis for a clear, focused, proportionate and individualised risk management/intervention plan (see Section 15 for information on risk management planning).

It should be borne in mind that a formulation is changeable and should be collaborative and incorporate information from significant adults and professionals, as well as the child or young person themselves. It is a *potential* explanation of the concerning behaviour(s), it is our best professional judgment based on the knowledge we have at the time, and it should be reviewed regularly. A comprehensive formulation of risk is a skill that should be supported by appropriate training, supervision, and reflective practice.

4.4 Interventions

There are a variety of approaches to interventions for children and young people who are in conflict with the law. In Scotland, the Whole System Approach advocates early and effective intervention for children and young people who are at the early stages of being involved in offending or harmful behaviours, which tends to focus on the child's welfare needs (see





<u>Section 10</u>). This section focuses on interventions specific to offending behaviour which are currently identified as best practice in the most recent reviews.

General and violent offending

Interventions for children and young people engaging in general offending and violent offending have often been based on cognitive-behavioural principles and have covered elements such as anger management, social skills training, and social problem-solving skills. There is evidence of the effectiveness of cognitive behavioural programmes through meta-analytic studies (Koehler et al., 2013; Landenberger & Lipsey, 2005; Lösel & Beelmann, 2003; Tong & Farrington, 2006). Additionally, a meta-analysis of general offending behaviour interventions in Europe for young people (up to the age of 25) indicated that behavioural and cognitive behavioural interventions were most effective, and that those interventions that were delivered in accordance with the RNR principles showed the greatest effects (Koehler et al., 2013).

There is, however, a stronger evidence base for family-based interventions and systemic interventions (Humayun & Scott, 2015). This is not surprising since children are embedded within various systems, and research on the risk factors underlying offending behaviour in children and young people often highlights the importance of systemic risk factors. Individual intervention work with the child will have limited success if the context within which the child is embedded is not considered and does not direct the approach taken. For example, family issues particularly likely to underlie offending behaviour include: poor parental supervision; parental substance abuse and mental health problems; parental attitudes that condone offending behaviour; inconsistent or lax discipline; and poor affective relations between youth, caregivers, and siblings. On the other hand, having a strong bond with at least one parent or carer, and having intensive parental supervision, are likely to act as protective factors or to promote desistance.

Reviews of the research literature indicate that family-based interventions and multi-systemic interventions can be effective in reducing offending behaviour (Farrington & Welsh, 2003; Humayun & Scott, 2015; Moodie et al., 2015). A review of high quality family-based crime prevention programmes (including home visiting, day care/preschool, parent training, school-based, home/community programmes for older children, and multi-systemic therapy) found that generally the prevalence of offending could be reduced by approximately 10-15% by implementing such interventions (Farrington & Welsh, 2003). They found that the most effective interventions used parent training while the least effective types were those based in schools.

The NICE guideline 'Antisocial behaviour and conduct disorders in children and young people: recognition and management' offers best practice advice on the care of children and young people with a diagnosed or suspected conduct disorder, including looked-after children and those in contact with the criminal justice system. The NICE guideline recommends that for the treatment of conduct disorder, group/individual parent training programmes are offered to the parents of children and young people aged between three and 11 years old; for children and young people aged 11-17 years old it is recommended that multi-modal interventions such as multi-systemic therapy are offered. Additionally, the guideline recommends that when working with parents and carers, workers should:





- Discuss with young people, of an appropriate developmental level, emotional
 maturity and cognitive capacity, how they want parents or carers to be involved, and
 that this should happen at intervals to take account of any changes in circumstances;
- Be aware that parents/carers might feel blamed for their child's problems or stigmatised by their contact with services, so directly address any concerns they have and set out the reasons for and purpose of the intervention; and
- Offer parents/carers an assessment of their own needs including personal, social, and emotional support; support in their caring role; and advice on practical matters and help to obtain support.

Many families have multiple difficulties or needs, and it may be that some of these need to be addressed before they can engage meaningfully in family work. It is important that the onus for overcoming any barriers to the family's active engagement sits with practitioners and their service, and that we work collaboratively with the family to overcome these.

Support and Services for Parents: A Review of the Literature in Engaging and Supporting Parents (Scottish Government, 2007) identified that some of the key features that contribute to successful engagement with families are:

- Adoption of a 'strengths-based' approach, building upon existing strengths
- Providing opportunities to share experiences and difficulties with others in similar situations
- Providing home-based services, where practical, to alleviate issues such as transportation, childcare, and anxiety
- Completing a thorough assessment of the family situation so that interventions are responsive to immediate and long-term needs
- Ensuring fathers or significant males are included in interventions
- Developing shared agreement on the problems to be dealt with and the goals of the intervention
- Starting with small simple tasks with easily achievable goals
- Ensuring open and clear communication

The review also concluded that a variety of different interventions are necessary to meet the differing needs of families. Those indicated by research to be the most effective interventions were:

- Parent training for children under eight years old;
- Parent training supplemented by direct individual development work for 8- to 12-yearolds; and
- Structured family work such as Functional Family Therapy or Multi-systemic Therapy for adolescents

Harmful sexual behaviour

In relation to concerns about sexual behaviour (whether concerns are about a child potentially being harmed or exploited, or potentially harming others), a useful starting point is the <u>Brook Sexual Behaviours Traffic Light tool</u>. This tool is designed to help professionals:

• distinguish healthy sexual development from harmful behaviour across the age ranges 0-5, 5-9, 9-13 and 13-17 years old, although the developmental stage of individuals should be taken into account as well as their chronological age;





- make decisions about safeguarding children and young people; and
- assess and respond appropriately to sexual behaviour in children and young people
 with interventions depending on whether the behaviour is assessed to be in the
 green (safe and healthy development), amber (potential to be outside of safe and
 healthy development) or red (outside of safe and healthy behaviour) category.

Early interventions with children and young people displaying harmful sexual behaviour (HSB) to others have largely been based on models of adult sexual offending, with adaptations for use in work with children and young people. In the UK, most intervention practice has been cognitive behavioural therapy interventions based on the relapse prevention model. This work typically involves: detailed behavioural analysis of the HSB; identifying and modifying cognitive distortions; developing victim empathy; education about sex, consent and healthy relationships; emotion management; self-management skills; social skills training; modifying unhealthy sexual arousal; and risk management strategies (Hackett, 2014). Although there is some supportive evidence for the effectiveness of cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) interventions in relation to HSB, a recent Cochrane Review based on four randomised control trials concluded that that there was uncertainty as to whether CBT reduced HSB compared to other interventions.(Sneddon, Gojkovic, Livingstone, & Macdonald, 2020). It is increasingly recognised that interventions need to be child-centred, holistic, strengths-based, trauma-responsive and target areas of more general unmet need as well as addressing the HSB.

Ward, Yates, and Willis (2012) indicate that the GLM can enhance current existing practices and aims to improve on treatment effectiveness through a motivational approach. In fact, initial research indicates that adding GLM principles to RNR practice can increase motivation as indicated through increased engagement, reduced drop-out rates from intervention and better outcomes (Mann, Webster, Schofield, & Marshall, 2004; Ware & Bright, 2008). Willis et al. (2013) have provided helpful guidelines as to how the GLM can be integrated into practice. They are clear that practitioners can exercise flexibility and creativity in integrating the GLM into their practice, as long as the core constructs are embedded throughout the intervention and the approach taken is consistent with the guidelines provided.

In addition, G-MAP have produced a guide, 'Intervention and Planning using the Good Lives Model', to assist professionals to construct individual programmes of work that are specific to the needs of children and young people and their unique circumstances. More recently they have published a book 'The Good Lives Model for Adolescents Who Sexually Harm' which provides comprehensive therapeutic guidelines and case illustrations to demonstrate how the GLM-A can be used in practice (Print, 2013). The G-MAP model of intervention has been referred to as the Safer Lives Programme in Scotland. It was introduced in Scotland in 2008 and a number of individuals in Scotland were trained as trainers; however, most have now moved on to different roles.

Although the Good Lives Model has a twin focus of enhancing wellbeing and reducing harm, good practice still requires professionals to conduct a needs/risk assessment and implement risk management processes to promote individual and community safety at the start of the work and throughout. A Good Lives plan will outline ways of helping the individual address areas of need and should contribute to the population of a risk management plan and, ultimately, the overall aims of the Child's Plan.





Initial evaluation findings on the value of the GLM-A have indicated that it can help professionals, children and carers to understand the needs being met by HSB; practitioners also found it to be an excellent framework for engaging and motivating children and carers in therapeutic work. The initial evaluation findings from children highlighted that they were able to understand the GLM-A; it helped them to understand their own harmful sexual behaviour and what needed to change; it was motivational, and it provided them with hope that things could get better (Leeson & Adshead, 2013). Additionally, a survey considering the impact of implementing Safer Lives in Scotland concluded that practitioners viewed it as having a positive impact on their practice, most often by adding to their available 'tool kit', but at times in a more transformative way. Almost all of the practitioners viewed the approach as an excellent fit with their own professional values and liked the return to a more positive and person-centred approach rather than one dominated by a risk management perspective (Simpson & Vaswani, 2015).

Hackett (2006) has outlined a framework for resilience-based interventions with children and young people displaying HSB. The core elements include:

- Developing supportive relationships for children and young people with at least one key non-abusive adult in their lives
- Helping children and young people to build positive and reciprocal peer relationships
- Encouraging school success and educational achievement
- Nurturing children and young people's talents and interests
- Building family resilience by offering primary caregivers a safe person they can confide in
- Encouraging participation and planning so that children and young people and families are centre stage in the planning process
- Giving children and young people opportunities to set and achieve goals and prosocial ambitions

Interventions for HSB also need to consider the systems within which the child or young person is embedded; they should be supported by wider systemic work which involves the family, school, peers and community. Parents or carers should be involved in the intervention so that any relationship/ home issues can be addressed but also so that they can reinforce learning and put in place any necessary boundaries/risk management strategies.

Research has shown strong support for family-based interventions and Hackett (2014) has documented a number of helpful aims for a family-support approach:

- Seek to draw on and harness strengths within families
- Broaden the social support dimension of family life
- Bolster families' level of social support
- Teach parents about the importance of supervision, how to identify situations of risk and how to implement risk-management strategies
- Help parents learn about children's sexual development and, in particular, what are appropriate and inappropriate sexual behaviours at different developmental stages





- Help parents identify when they need to inform other people about their child's sexual behaviours, how they should go about this and what level of information needs to be shared.
- Help parents explore and review family rules about sex and sexuality
- Support parents in identifying appropriate ways and opportunities to talk to their children about sexual matters
- Learn about specific behavioural parenting strategies in order to respond to challenging behaviours presented by children
- Improve communication patterns in the family and enhance the quality of parentchild interactions

It is clear from the literature that interventions for children and young people involved in offending or harmful behaviours are most likely to be effective when they are child-centred, holistic, strengths-based, goal-oriented, collaborative, trauma-responsive, and involve family and other systems. It is crucial that interventions are individualised and proportionate; this can be achieved by developing an intervention plan that is based on comprehensive assessment and formulation. More recently, it has become apparent that we need to consider the wider context within which offending or harmful behaviours occur (Firmin, 2017). Often these behaviours occur against peers in shared social spaces such as schools/community areas. It is therefore important that when we develop interventions, we are considering whether there are any patterns of behaviour or risks/needs within the wider systems that we should address to reduce risk. Sometimes, attitudes/beliefs and behaviours can become 'normalised' in social spaces if the approach is to 'deal' with individuals rather than to effect culture change. The Contextual Safeguarding approach developed by Carlene Firmin and colleagues can assist with this.

This is consistent with the recent report from the Expert Group on Preventing Sexual Offending Involving Children and Young People (Scottish Government, 2020) which highlighted that interventions should be proportionate, focused on the individual needs of the child, involve the systems around the child, take into account contextual issues and where appropriate, be placed within the CARM process. Additionally, the report noted that there should be assurance that the current approaches are delivering what is required for both those children whose behaviour is harming others and those who are being harmed (Scottish Government, 2020).





6. Conclusion

This section has emphasised the importance of acknowledging the different needs and strengths of each individual so that any planned intervention is child-centred. Assessment and formulation, which is the starting point of intervention, needs to take account of developmental factors, attachment, and neurodevelopmental factors and theories as well as offending behaviour theories so that interventions can be individually tailored and delivered in a manner which is responsive to the individual. Assessments for those children and young people whose behaviour poses a risk of serious harm to others should be informed by FRAME guidance and underpinned by the use of the CARM process. These assessments inform the intensity, duration and sequencing of intervention and the processes to reduce risk, if any are required. The outcomes from the assessment, formulation and intervention planning should be included in the Child's Plan and reviewed regularly, not only to assess progress, but also to highlight any relevant changes in the child or young person's situation.

In meeting both the wellbeing and offending needs of a child or young person who is displaying offending or harmful behaviour, it is important that intervention does not stigmatise or further label them and their families, and that it maintains their rights as children. This, in conjunction with the recognition of any existing strengths and/or protective factors that may be further developed in order to motivate, enhance resilience, build human and social capital and effect positive change, will encourage responsive participation and increase the probability of the effectiveness of any programme of work. Working in this manner should lead to greater public safety and improved wellbeing for all.



7. References

- Ainsworth, M., Blehar, M. C., Waters, E., & Wall, S. (1978). *Patterns of attachment A psychological study of the strange situation*. Hilldale, NY: Erlbaum.
- Andershed, A., Gibson, C. L., & Andershed, H. (2016). The role of cumulative risk and protection for violent offending. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 45, 78-84. doi:10.1016/j.jcrimjus.2016.02.006
- Andrews, D. A., & Bonta, J. (2010). The psychology of criminal conduct: Routledge.
- Andrews, D. A., Bonta, J., & Wormith, J. S. (2011). The risk-need-responsivity (RNR) model: Does adding the good lives model contribute to effective crime prevention? *Criminal Justice and behavior*, 38(7), 735-755.
- Andrews, D. A., & Dowden, C. (2005). Managing correctional treatment for reduced recidivism: A meta-analytic review of programme integrity. *Legal and Criminological Psychology*, 10(2), 173-187.
- Barendregt, C., van der Laan, A., Bongers, I., & van Nieuwenhuizen, C. (2018). Quality of life, delinquency and psychosocial functioning of adolescents in secure residential care: Testing two assumptions of the Good Lives Model. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health*, *12*(1), 1-10. doi:10.1186/s13034-017-0209-9
- Black, K., & Lobo, M. (2008). A conceptual review of family resilience factors. *Journal of family nursing*, 14(1), 33-55.
- Borum, R., Bartel, P., & Forth, A. (2006). SAVRY: structured assessment of violence risk in youth: Professional manual: PAR.
- Bottoms, A. (2014). Desistance from crime. *Forensic Practice in the Community London:* Routledge.
- Bowlby, J. (1958). The Nature of the Child's Tie to his Mother. *International journal of psycho-analysis*, 39, 350-373.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). The ecology of human development: Experiments by design and nature. In: Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Case, S. (2021). Challenging the Reductionism of "Evidence-Based" Youth Justice. *Sustainability*, 13(4), 17-35. doi:10.3390/su13041735
- Case, S., & Haines, K. (2009). Understanding Youth Offending: Risk Factor Research. *Policy and Practice. Willan Publishing (UK)*.
- Case, S., & Haines, K. (2016). Taking the Risk out of Youth Justice. In C. Trotter & F. McNeill (Eds.), *Beyond the risk paradigm in criminal justice* (pp. 65-80). London: Blackwells.
- Chater, D. (2009). *Universities of crime: Young adults, the criminal justice system and social policy:* Transition to Adulthood Alliance.
- Cook, O. (2015). Youth in Justice: Young people explore what their role in improving youth justice should be. Retrieved from
- Couper, S., & Mackie, P. (2016). *Polishing the Diamonds': Addressing Adverse Childhood Experiences in Scotland*. Retrieved from https://www.communityfoodandhealth.org.uk/2016/polishing-diamonds-addressing-adverse-childhood-experiences-scotland/



- Creeden, K. (2013). Taking a developmental approach to treating juvenile sexual behavior problems. *International Journal of Behavioral Consultation and Therapy*, 8(12), 3-4. doi:10.1037/h0100977
- Creeden, K. (2018). Adjusting the lens: A developmental perspective for treating youth with sexual behavior problems. In A. Beech, A. Carter, R. Mann, & P. Rotshtein (Eds.), *The Wiley Blackwell handbook of forensic neuroscience* (pp. 783-811). New York: Wiley Blackwell.
- CYCJ. (2016). *Key Messages*. Retrieved from https://cycj.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/12/CYCJ-Key-Messages.pdf
- Daniel, B., & Wassell, S. (2002). Adolescence: Assessing and promoting resilience in vulnerable children 3: Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Douglas, K., Blanchard, A., & Hendry, M. (2013). Violence risk assessment and management: Putting structured professional judgment into practice. *Managing clinical risk: A guide to effective practice*, 29-55.
- Douglas, K. S., Hart, S. D., Webster, C. D. and Belfrage, H. (2011). *Historical-Clinical-Risk Management: Assessing risk for violence version 3*. Retrieved from Burnaby, British Columbia, Canada:
- Dowden, C., & Andrews, D. A. (2004). The importance of staff practice in delivering effective correctional treatment: A meta-analytic review of core correctional practice. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and comparative criminology, 48*(2), 203-214.
- Dubow, E. F., Huesmann, L. R., Boxer, P., & Smith, C. (2016). Childhood and adolescent risk and protective factors for violence in adulthood. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 45, 26-31.
- Farrington, D. P. (1989). Early predictors of adolescent aggression and adult violence. *Violence and victims*, 4(2), 79-100.
- Farrington, D. P. (1996). *Understanding and preventing youth crime*: York Publishing Services Limited York.
- Farrington, D. P. (2015). The developmental evidence base: Psychosocial research. In D. A. C. a. G. J. Towl (Ed.), *Forensic psychology* (pp. 161-181). Chichester, UK: Wiley.
- Farrington, D. P., Loeber, R., & Ttofi, M. M. (2012). Risk and protective factors for offending. *The Oxford handbook of crime prevention*, 46-69.
- Farrington, D. P., Ttofi, M. M., & Piquero, A. R. (2016). Risk, promotive, and protective factors in youth offending: Results from the Cambridge study in delinquent development. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 45, 63-70.
- Farrington, D. P., & Welsh, B. C. (2003). Family-based prevention of offending: A meta-analysis. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Criminology*, 36(2), 127-151.
- Firmin, C. (2017). *Abuse Between Young People: A Contextual Account*. Abingdon: Routledge.
- Fraser, M. W., & Galinsky, M. J. (1997). Toward a resilience-based model of practice. *Risk and resilience in childhood: An ecological perspective*, 265-275.
- Fulcher, L., McGladdery, S., & Vicary, D. (2011). Key developmental assets for children and young people in foster care. *Interntional Journal of Child & Family Welfare*, 14, 19-30.



- Gilligan, R. (1997). Beyond Permanence? The Importance of Resilience in Child Placement Practice and Planning. *Adoption & Fostering*, 21(1), 12-20. doi:10.1177/030857599702100104
- Giordano, P. C., Cernkovich, S. A., & Rudolph, J. L. (2002). Gender, Crime, and Desistance: Toward a Theory of Cognitive Transformation 1. *American journal of sociology*, 107(4), 990-1064.
- Golding, K. (2007). Developing group-based parent training for foster and adoptive parents. *Adoption & Fostering*, 31(3), 39-48.
- Golding, K. (2015). *Meeting the therapeutic needs of traumatized children*. Retrieved from https://kimsgolding.co.uk/resources/models/meeting-the-therapeutic-needs-of-traumatized-children/
- Golding, K. (2020). Understanding and helping children who have experienced maltreatment. *Paediatrics and Child Health*, 30(11), 1-7. doi:10.1016/j.paed.2020.08.002
- Goldson, B., Hughes, G., McAra, L., & McVie, S. (2010). Youth crime and justice: Key messages from the Edinburgh Study of Youth Transitions and Crime. *Criminology & Criminal Justice*, 10(2), 179-209.
- Goldstein, S., & Brooks, R. B. (2005). Resilience in children. New York: Springer.
- Green, R., Mitchell, P., & Bruun, A. (2013). Bonds and bridges: perspectives of service-engaged young people on the value of relationships in addressing alcohol and other drug issues. *Journal of youth studies*, 16(4), 421-440.
- Hackett, S. (2006). Towards a resilience-based intervention model for young people with harmful sexual behaviours. *Children and young people who sexually abuse others:* current developments and practice responses. 2nd ed. London: Routledge.
- Hackett, S. (2014). *Children and young people with harmful sexual behaviours*. Retrieved from Dartington: https://hullscb.proceduresonline.com/files/ch_yp_harmful_sexual_behav.pdf
- Hannah-Moffat, K. (2009). Gridlock or mutability: Reconsidering "gender" and risk assessment. *Criminology & Public Policy*, 8(1), 209-219.
- Hanson, R. K., Bourgon, G., Helmus, L., & Hodgson, S. (2009). The principles of effective correctional treatment also apply to sexual offenders: A meta-analysis. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 36(9), 865-891.
- Hart, S., Sturmey, P., Logan, C., & McMurran, M. (2011). Forensic case formulation. *International Journal of Forensic Mental Health*, 10(2), 118-126.
- Hawkins, J. D., Herrenkohl, T. I., Farrington, D. P., Brewer, D., Catalano, R. F., Harachi, T. W., & Cothern, L. (2000). Predictors of Youth Violence. Juvenile Justice Bulletin.
- Henggeler, S. W., Schoenwald, S. K., Borduin, C. M., Rowland, M. D., & Cunningham, P. B. (2009). *Multisystemic therapy for antisocial behavior in children and adolescents*: Guilford Press.
- HMI Probation. (2016). *Desistance and young people: An insepction by HMI Probation*. Retrieved from https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprobation/wp-content/uploads/sites/5/2016/05/Desistance_and_young_people.pdf
- Hughes, D. (2017). Dyadic Developmental Psychotherapy (DDP): An Attachment-focused Family Treatment for Developmental Trauma. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Family Therapy*, 38, 595-605. doi:10.1002/anzf.1273
- Humayun, S., & Scott, S. (2015). Evidence-Based Interventions for Violent Behavior in Children and Adolescents. In *Violence and Mental Health* (pp. 391-419): Springer.

www.cycj.org.uk



- Independent Care Review. (2020). *The Promise*. Retrieved from https://www.carereview.scot/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/The-Promise.pdf
- Johnson, S. B., Blum, R. W., & Giedd, J. N. (2009). Adolescent maturity and the brain: the promise and pitfalls of neuroscience research in adolescent health policy. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 45(3), 216-221.
- Johnstone, L., & Gregory, L. (2015). Youth Violence Risk Assessment: A framework for Practice. In A. R. Joel Harvey, Heather Law (Ed.), *Young People in Forensic Mental Health Settings: Psychological Thinking and Practice* (pp. 96-122): Palgrave Macmillan.
- Jolliffe, D., & Farrington, D. (2009). A systematic review of the relationship between childhood impulsiveness and later violence. *Personality, Personality disorder, and violence*, 41-61.
- Jolliffe, D., Farrington, D., Loeber, R., & Pardini, D. (2016). Protective factors for violence: Results from the Pittsburgh Youth Study. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 45, 32-40.
- Koehler, J. A., Lösel, F., Akoensi, T. D., & Humphreys, D. K. (2013). A systematic review and meta-analysis on the effects of young offender treatment programs in Europe. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, 9(1), 19-43.
- Landenberger, N. A., & Lipsey, M. W. (2005). The positive effects of cognitive—behavioral programs for offenders: A meta-analysis of factors associated with effective treatment. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, 1(4), 451-476.
- Leeson, S., & Adshead, M. (2013). The Response of Adolescents and Practitioners to a Good Lives Approach. In B. Print (Ed.), *The Good Lives Model for Adolescents Who Sexually Harm*. Brandon, Vermont: Safer Society Press.
- Leishman, J., Lightowler, C., & Robinson, G. (2017). Youth Justice Improvement Board 2017 Children and Young People in Custody in Scotland: Looking Behind the Data. Retrieved from http://www.cycj.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/Young-People-in-Custody-October-2017.pdf
- Lewis, G., & Doyle, M. (2009). Risk formulation: What are we doing and why? *International Journal of Forensic Mental Health*, 8(4), 286-292.
- Lösel, F., & Beelmann, A. (2003). Effects of child skills training in preventing antisocial behavior: A systematic review of randomized evaluations. *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 587(1), 84-109.
- Luthar, S. S., Cicchetti, D., & Becker, B. (2000). The construct of resilience: A critical evaluation and guidelines for future work. *Child development*, 71(3), 543-562.
- Main, M., & Solomon, J. (1986). Discovery of an insecure-disorganized/disoriented attachment pattern. In T. B. Brazelton & M. W. Yogman (Eds.), *Affective development in infancy* (pp. 97-124). New York: Ablex Publishing.
- Main, M., & Solomon, J. (1990). Procedures for identifying infants as disorganized/disoriented during the Ainsworth Strange Situation. *Attachment in the preschool years: Theory, research, and intervention, 1*, 121-160.
- Mann, R. E., Webster, S. D., Schofield, C., & Marshall, W. L. (2004). Approach versus avoidance goals in relapse prevention with sexual offenders. *Sexual Abuse*, 16(1), 65-75.
- Maruna, S. (2001). *Making good: How ex-convicts reform and rebuild their lives*: American Psychological Association.



- Maruna, S., & Farrall, S. (2004). Desistance From Crime: A Theoretical Reformulation. *Kölner Zeitschrift für Soziologie und Sozialpsychologie, 43*, 171–194.
- McAra, L., & McVie, S. (2010). Youth crime and justice: Key messages from the Edinburgh Study of Youth Transitions and Crime. *Criminology & Criminal Justice*, 10(2), 179-209.
- McAra, L., & McVie, S. (2016). Understanding youth violence: The mediating effects of gender, poverty and vulnerability. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 45, 71-77.
- McAra, L., McVie, S., Croall, H., Mooney, G., & Munro, M. (2010). Youth crime and justice in Scotland. *Criminal Justice in Scotland*, 67-89.
- McCulloch, T., McNeill, F., Green, S., & Lancaster, E. (2008). Desistance-focused approaches. *Addressing offending behaviour: Context, practice and values*, 154.
- McNeill, F. (2002). *Beyond 'What Works': How and why do people stop offending?* (Paper 5). Retrieved from Glasgow: https://strathprints.strath.ac.uk/39655/1/Briefing 20Paper 205 final.pdf
- McNeill, F. (2016). The collateral consequences of risk. In C. Trotter, McIvor, G. and McNeill, F. (Ed.), *Beyond the Risk Paradigm in Criminal Justice*. (pp. 75-100). London: Palgrave.
- McNeill, F., Farrall, S., Lightowler, C., & Maruna, S. (2012). How and why people stop offending: discovering desistance: Insights evidence summary to support social services in Scotland. Retrieved from https://www.iriss.org.uk/resources/insights/how-why-people-stop-offending-discovering-desistance
- McNeill, F., & Weaver, B. (2010). *Changing lives: Desistance research and offender*. Retrieved from https://www.sccjr.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/10/Report%202010 03%20-%20Changing%20Lives.pdf
- Milbourne, L. (2009). Valuing difference or securing compliance? Working to involve young people in community settings. *Children & Society*, 23(5), 347-363.
- Moodie, K., Vaswani, N., Shaw, J., Morton, P., Orr, D., Allardyce, S., & Connelly, G. (2015). Working with young people who offend: An examination of the literature regarding violence, substance misuse and harmful sexual behaviour. Retrieved from http://www.cycj.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/Working-with-young-people-who-offend-website-copy.pdf
- Muris, P., Meesters, C., Morren, M., & Moorman, L. (2004). Anger and hostility in adolescents: Relationships with self-reported attachment style and perceived parental rearing styles. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 57(3), 257-264.
- Murphy, C. (2018). *Balancing rights and risk: How can we get it right for children involved in violent behaviour?* Retrieved from https://www.cycj.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Balancing-Rights-and-Risk.pdf
- Murphy, C. (2020). *Improving risk practice in Scotland: Evaluation of START:AV training*. Retrieved from Glasgow: https://www.cycj.org.uk/resource/improving-risk-practice-in-scotland-evaluation-of-startay-training/
- Nolan, D. (2015). *Youth Justice: A Study of Local Authority Practice Across Scotland*. Retrieved from Glasgow: http://www.cycj.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/Youth-Justice-A-Study-of-Local-Authority-Practice-Across-Scotland-FINAL.pdf
- Nugent, B., & Schinkel, M. (2016). The pains of desistance. *Criminology & Criminal Justice*, 16(5), 568-584.



- Perry, B., Griffin, G., Davis, G., Perry, J., & Perry, R. (2018). The impact of neglect, trauma and maltreatment on neurodevelopment: Implications for juvenile justice practice, programs, and policy. In P. Rotshtein (Ed.), *The Wiley Blackwell Handbook of Forensic Neuroscience* (pp. 815-835). London: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.
- Perry, B. D. (2002). Childhood experience and the expression of genetic potential: What childhood neglect tells us about nature and nurture. *Brain and mind*, 3(1), 79-100.
- Perry, B. D., Pollard, R. A., Blakley, T. L., Baker, W. L., & Vigilante, D. (1995). Childhood trauma, the neurobiology of adaptation, and use dependent development of the brain: How states become traits. *Infant mental health journal*, 16(4), 271-291.
- Print, B. (2013). *The Good Lives Model for Adolescents Who Sexually Harm*. Brandon, Vermont: Safer Society Press.
- Prior, D., Farrow, K., Hughes, N., Kelly, G., Manders, G., White, S., & Wilkinson, B. (2011). *Maturity, Young Adults and Criminal Justice: A literature review.* Retrieved from Birmingham:

 https://www.barrowcadbury.org.uk/?s=Maturity%2C+Young+Adults+and+Criminal+Justice%3A+A+literature+review
- Raynor, P., & Vanstone, M. (2016). Moving away from social work and half way back again: New research on skills in probation. *The British Journal of Social Work, 46*(4), 1131-1147. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4986092/pdf/bcv008.pdf
- Rogers, A., & Budd, M. (2015). Developing safe and strong foundations: The DART framework. In *Young People in Forensic Mental Health Settings* (pp. 356-389): Springer.
- Sapouna, M., Bisset, C., Conlong, A-M. and Matthews, B. (2015). What works to reduce reoffending: A summary of the evidence. Retrieved from https://www.gov.scot/Publications/2015/05/2480
- Schore, A. N. (2001). Effects of a secure attachment relationship on right brain development, affect regulation, and infant mental health. *Infant mental health journal*, 22(1-2), 7-66.
- Scottish Government. (2020). *Harmful sexual behaviour by children and young people: Expert Group report*. Retrieved from https://www.gov.scot/publications/expert-group-prevention-group-prevention-responses-harmful-sexual-behaviour-children-young-people/
- Scottish Government. (2007). Support and Services for Parents: A Review of the Literature in Engaging and Supporting Parents. Edinburgh: Scottish Government Retrieved from https://www.webarchive.org.uk/wayback/archive/20161011020230/http://www.gov.scot/Publications/2008/04/07085557/12
- Scottish Government. (2013). *Children's hearings training resource manual: volume 2*. Retrieved from Edinburgh: https://www.gov.scot/publications/training-resource-manual-volume-2-childrens-hearings-handbook/pages/55/
- Scottish Government. (2021). Framework for Risk Assessment Management and Evaluation (FRAME) for Local Authorities and partners: For Children and Young People under 18. Retrieved from https://www2.gov.scot/Resource/0046/00466882.pdf
- Shaw, D. S., Owens, E. B., Vondra, J. I., Keenan, K., & Winslow, E. B. (1996). Early risk factors and pathways in the development of early disruptive behavior problems. *Development and Psychopathology*, 8(4), 679-699.



- Simpson, S., & Vaswani, N. (2015). The use of Safer Lives in Scotland with young people displaying sexually harmful behaviours. Retrieved from http://www.cycj.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/05/The-use-of-safer-lives-in-Scotland-report.pdf
- Singh, S. P. (2009). Transition of care from child to adult mental health services: the great divide. *Current opinion in psychiatry*, 22(4), 386-390.
- Sneddon, H., Gojkovic, D., Livingstone, N., & Macdonald, G. (2020). Cognitive-behavioural therapy (CBT) interventions for young people aged 10 to 18 with harmful sexual behaviour. *Cochrane database of systematic reviews*, *6*(2). doi:10.1002/14651858.CD009829.pub2
- Tong, L. S., & Farrington, D. P. (2006). How effective is the "Reasoning and Rehabilitation" programme in reducing reoffending? A meta-analysis of evaluations in four countries. *Psychology, Crime & Law, 12*(1), 3-24.
- Trotter, C. (2012). Effective community-based supervision of young offenders. *Trends and Issues in Crime and Criminal Justice*(448), 1.
- Trotter, C. (2013). Reducing recidivism through probation supervision: What we know and don't know from four decades of research. *Fed. Probation*, 77, 43.
- Trotter, C. (2015). Working with involuntary clients: A guide to practice: Routledge.
- Trotter, C. (2016). Risk assessment in practice. In G. M. C. Trotter, and F. McNeill. (Ed.), *Beyond the risk paradigm in criminal justice*. London: Palgrave.
- Ttofi, M. M., Farrington, D. P., Piquero, A. R., & DeLisi, M. (2016). Protective factors against offending and violence: Results from prospective longitudinal studies. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 45, 1-13. doi:10.1016/j.jcrimjus.2016.02.001
- Ttofi, M. M., Farrington, D. P., Piquero, A. R., Lösel, F., DeLisi, M., & Murray, J. (2016). Intelligence as a protective factor against offending: A meta-analytic review of prospective longitudinal studies. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 45, 4-18.
- UNCRC. (1989). The United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child. Retrieved from https://downloads.unicef.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2010/05/UNCRC united nations convention on the rights of the child.pdf? ga=2.187900394.350333791.1523431125-697878919.1502723685
- United Nations Committee on the Rights of the Child. (1990). United Nations Rules for the Protection of Juveniles Deprived of their Liberty (the 'Havana Rules'). Retrieved from https://www.ohchr.org/EN/ProfessionalInterest/Pages/JuvenilesDeprivedOfLiberty.as px
- van Damme, L., Fortune, C., Vandevelde, S., & Vanderplasschen, W. (2017). The Good Lives Model among detained female adolescents. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, *37*, 179-189.
- Van Hecke, N., Vanderplasschen, W., Van Damme, L., & Vandevelde, S. (2019). The bumpy road to change: a retrospective qualitative study on formerly detained adolescents' trajectories towards better lives. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health*, 13(1). Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1186/s13034-019-0271-6
- Vassallo, S., Edwards, B., & Forrest, W. (2016). Childhood behavior problems and fighting in early adulthood: What factors are protective? *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 45, 85-93.
- Ward, T. (2002). Good lives and the rehabilitation of offenders: Promises and problems. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 7(5), 513-528.



- Ward, T. (2010). The Good Lives Model of offender rehabilitation: Basic assumptions, aetiological commitments, and practice implications. *Offender supervision: New directions in theory, research and practice*, 41-64.
- Ward, T., & Fortune, C.-A. (2013). The good lives model: Aligning risk reduction with promoting offenders' personal goals. *European Journal of Probation*, *5*(2), 29-46.
- Ward, T., & Stewart, C. (2003). Criminogenic needs and human needs: A theoretical model. *Psychology, Crime & Law, 9*(2), 125-143.
- Ward, T., Yates, P. M., & Willis, G. M. (2012). The good lives model and the risk need responsivity model: A critical response to Andrews, Bonta, and Wormith (2011). *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 39(1), 94-110.
- Ware, J., & Bright, D. A. (2008). Evolution of a treatment programme for sex offenders: Changes to the NSW Custody-Based Intensive Treatment (CUBIT). *Psychiatry, Psychology and Law, 15*(2), 340-349.
- Weerasekera, P. (1996). *Multiperspective case formulation: A step towards treatment integration*. London: Krieger Publishing Company.
- Willis, G. M., Yates, P. M., Gannon, T. A., & Ward, T. (2013). How to integrate the Good Lives Model into treatment programs for sexual offending: An introduction and overview. *Sexual Abuse*, 25(2), 123-142.
- Zeedyk, S. (2014). Sabre Tooth Tigers & Teddy Bears: The connected baby guide to understanding attachmen. Online: Connected Baby.



Appendix 1

Resilience Matrix

